Osburn, et al. v. Onewest Bank, et al.
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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

RONALD M. OSBURN, et al., Case No. 1:18-cv-00310-LJO-SAB

Plaintiffs, FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
RECOMMENDING GRANTING

V. DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS
AND GRANTING IN PART PLAINTIFFS’
OCWEN LOAN SERVICING LLC, et al., MOTION TO AMEND

Defendants. (ECF Nos. 29, 30, 42, 44, 45)

OBJECTIONS DUE WITHIN FOURTEEN
DAYS

Doc. 50

Plaintiffs Ronald M. Osburn and Sadie M. Osborn (“Plaintiffs”) filed this action against

Defendants Onewest Bank, Ocwen Loan SemgicLLC (“Ocwen”), Mortgage Electroni

(9]

Registration Systems Inc. (“MERS”), Deutsd@nk National Trust Company (“Deutsche Bank”),

and Western Progressive LLC (“West Progressive”). (ECF No. 1GQurrently before the Court
is Deutsche Bank, MERS, Ocwen, and Westengfssive’'s (“Defendants”) motion to dism|ss
pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the FealeRules of Civil Procedure.

The Court heard oral argument on June 20820Counsel CatarinBenitez appeared for

Plaintiffs and counsel Lindsey Kress apped@dDefendants. Having considered the moving,

opposition and reply papers, the declarations and#stattached thereto, arguments presented
the June 20, 2018 hearing, as well as the Cofile’sthe Court issues the following findings and

recommendations.
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I
PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On May 3, 2018, Plaintiffs filed this action ajlag violations of the Real Estate Settlem

Procedures Act (“RESPA”), 12 U.S.C. § 2605, #émel Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”), 15 U.S.C.

8 1638; as well as state law claims for fraudpngful foreclosure, quiet title, cancellation

instruments, negligent misrepresentation, breattcontract, and unfair business practices i

violation of California Businesand Professions Code 8 170q&CF No. 1.) On March 20, 201
Plaintiffs filed a motion for a temporary restiag order which was granted on March 26, 20
(ECF No. 16.) On March 28, 2018, Plaintiffs posted a bond in the amount of $1,500.00.

Defendants filed a response to the mofimna restraining order on April 2, 2018. (E(
Nos. 20-22.) Plaintiff filed a reply on April 2018. (ECF No. 24.) On April 6, 2018, Distr,
Judge Lawrence J. O'Neil issued an order raggiPlaintiffs to show cause why the tempor
restraining should not be dissotlze (ECF No. 26.) Plaintiffand Defendants filed a response
the order to show cause and Defendants filed the instant motion to dismiss on April 9, 201§
Nos. 27, 29-30, 32.)

On April 10, 2018, Judge O’Neill issued ander dissolving the temporary restrain
order and the motion to dismiss was referretheoundersigned on April 12, 2018. (ECF No.
36.) On April 23,2018, Plaintiffs filed a notice wbluntary dismissal as to Defendant Onew
Bank; and Defendant Onewest Bank was dismifsad this action on April 24, 2018. (ECF N
39, 41.)

Plaintiffs did not file an opposition to thmotion to dismiss, but on June 6, 2018, file
motion to amend the complaint and an applicatohear the motion on shortened time. (ECF
42.) Plaintiffs’ application to hear the matten shortened time was granted. (ECF No.

Defendants filed an opposition to the motionatmend on June 13, 2018. (ECF Nos. 44,

Plaintiffs filed a reply on Juné&5, 2018, that was stricken frometihecord for being unsigned.

(ECF No. 46, 48.) On this same dateitff filed a signed reply. (ECF No. 47.)
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.
COMPLAINT ALLEGATIONS

Around January 2005, Plaintiffjurchased real property loedt at 4523 West Evergre
Court, Visalia, California and ithe County of Tulare by executimgortgage loans. (Compl. ¢
11, 16, ECF No. 1.) Originally, ¢nhBeneficiary and Trustee wasnerica’s Wholesale Lender af
the monthly payment on the property was $1,584.86. (Compl. T 16.) Plaintiffs mad
payments in a timely manner. (Compl. § 16.)e @eed of trust waseerded on January 14, 20(
and there was a second deed o$trecorded for the remainingalo balance. (Compl. 16.)

Around February 2006, Plaintiffs’ refinancea ghroperty with Home Lan Center Inc. an
signed the refinance paperwork, including a notedwedl of trust. (Compl. 20.) About March
2006, a substitution of trustee and full reconveyance was recorded listing MERS as the be
and substituting ReconTrust Company N.A. as the new trustee. (Compl.  21.) About Mz
2006, a fixed/adjustable rate note was executeBlamtiffs with IndyMac Bank. (Compl. 22
Although both Plaintiffs executed the original natiee note only bore thsignature of Plaintif
Ronald Osburn. (Compl.  22.) The deed a$ttiexecuted on March 17, 2006, was in the am
of $348,400.00 and listed Indymac Bank as the leni@msnation Title Insurance Company
the trustee, and MERS as the beneficiary. (Compl. § 23.¢ nidte executed provided fi
acceleration of the loan and thihe lender would provide prior tice of acceleration and had t
power to sell the property in the event of defag@ompl. 1 25.) There was also a deed of trus
a secondary lien recorded in temount of $87,100.00. (Compl. { 26.)

Plaintiffs began making mortgage pagmts in the amount of $2,178.68 per mo
(Compl. T 24.) On May 2, 2006, a substitution of trustee and full reconveyance was re
(Compl. 1 27.)

Around 2011, Plaintiffs received a loanodification from IndyMac Bank and th
payments were $880.00 per month. (Compl.  £81)June 26, 2012, a substitution of trustee
full reconveyance was recad to provide that the indebtedn&gss paid off and the second de
of trust was transferred to MERS as nomif@eOnewest. (Compl. § 29.) Around October

2013, Plaintiff received notice thiatdyMac would be transferrintpe mortgaging servicing righ
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to Ocwen. (Compl. § 33.)
On March 28, 2014, it was recorded that the second mortgage was satisfied

(Compl. 1 30.) In 2016Plaintiffs noticed thatheir mortgage payments were increasing

in full.

and

decreasing without explanationlCompl. { 34.) When theytampted to contact Ocwen, they

were informed that there was an automatic stagffect as a resulbf their filing bankruptcy
although Plaintiffs had not fite bankruptcy. (Compl. § 34.)Ocwen eventually shut dow
Plaintiffs’ mortgage account in 2016, and they longer had access to their account and
prevented from making payments. (Compl. { 35.)

Around January 18, 2017, an assignment of ddetust was recorded listing MERS
nominee for IndyBank and all intextein the loan was assigned Deutsche Bank as Trustee
IndyMac. (Compl. T 31.) Plaintiffs have koowledge of when Onewest became involve
their loan or how IndyMac acquiredeir mortgage. (Compl. § 32.)

Around March 2017, Plaintiffs received a noticedefault from Western Progressive LL
(Compl. 1 36.) From March 20, 2017, to June 287, Plaintiffs received approximately si
copies of notice of trustee satelicating Defendants’ intent fioreclose on the property. (Com
1 37.) A notice of trustee sale was recorded by Western Bspggeon June 29, 2017, with t
trustee sale set to takeapk on March 27, 2018. (Compl. 1 37.)

Plaintiffs generally allege #t the notes were not legallyatisferred or delivered and t
defendants acted with the intent to defraud thé@ompl. 11 39-52.) Plaintiffs bring this acti
against Defendant Ocwen for violation of RES&d TILA; against Dewstthe Bank, Ocwen, ar
Mers for fraud and negligent misrepresentatiand against Ocwen, NS, Deutsche Bank, af
Western Progressive for wrongfulrézlosure, quiet title, cancellah of instruments, breach
contract, and unfair business practices in atioh of California’s Ufair Competition Law
(“UCL"), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code, 8 17200, et se¢Compl. pp. 11-27.) RlIntiffs are seekin(
monetary damages and injunctive relief. (Compl. p. 27.)
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1.
LEGAL STANDARD
A. Motion to Dismiss
Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)@ party may file a motion to dismiss on
grounds that a complaint “fail[s] to state a olaipon which relief can bgranted.” A motion to

dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) tests the legfficeency of the complaint._Navarro v. Block,

250 F.3d 729, 732 (9th Cir. 2001). In deciding a motmdismiss, “[a]ll allgations of material
fact are taken as true and coustt in the light most favorable the nonmoving party.” Cabhill v.

Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 80 F.3d 33837-38 (9th Cir. 1996). The pleadistandard under Rule 8 |of

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure does nafuire “ ‘detailed factulaallegations,” but it

demands more than an unadorned, the-defenddatvfully harmed-me accusation.” Ashcroft

the

Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009yuoting Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555

(2007)). In assessing the sufficiency of a conmplall well-pleaded facial allegations must be

accepted as true. Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79. Howé&¥pmeadbare recitalef the elements of
cause of action, supported by meoadusory statements, do not saffi” Id. at 678. To avoid
dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6), a complaint mustdl“enough facts to state a claim to relief

is plausible on its face.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570.

In deciding whether a complaint statesclaim, the Ninth Circuit has found that two

principles apply. First, to be entitled to the presumption of truth the allegations in the co

“may not simply recite the elements of a causaation, but must contasufficient allegations of

underlying facts to give fair notice and to enathle opposing party to defend itself effectivel
Starr v. Baca, 652 F.3d 1202, 1216 (9th Cir. 201J9co8d, so that it is not unfair to require

defendant to be subjected to the expenses assdavith discovery and continued litigation,

a
a

that

mplaint

y.”
the
the

factual allegations of the complainvhich are taken as true, mysausibly suggest an entitlement

to relief. Starr, 652 F.3d at 1216. “Dismissal is proper only where there is no cognizab

theory or an absence of sufficient facts allegesupport a cognizable ldgheory.” Navarro, 250

F.3d at 732 (citing Balistreri v. Pacificallke Dept., 901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir.1988)).
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B. Motion to Amend

Under Rule 15(a) of the Federal Rules o¥ilOProcedure, a party may amend the par
pleading once as a matter of cegirat any time before a respomspleading is served. Fed.
Civ. P. 15(a)(1). Otherwise, a party may amend bmglleave of the court or by written consen
the adverse party, and leave shall be freely giwéen justice so requires. Fed. R. Civ.
15(a)(2).

In determining whether to grant leave to amehd, court considers five factors: “(1) b

faith; (2) undue delay; (3) prejio to the opposing pa; (4) futility of amendment; and (5

whether the plaintiff has premisly amended his complaint.Nunes v. Ashcroft, 375 F.3d 80

808 (9th Cir. 2004). The factors are not given equeaght and futility alone is sufficient to justif

the denial of a motion to amend. Washarmgv. Lowe’s HIW Inc., 75 F. Supp. 3d 1240, 12

(N.D. Cal. 2014), appeal dismissed (Feb. 25, 2018}t is the consideration of prejudice to t

opposing party that carries theegtest weight.”_Eminence G&d, LLC v. Aspeon, Inc., 316 F.3

1048, 1052 (9th Cir. 2003). “Absent prejudice,aostrong showing of any of the remaining
factors, there exists a presumption under Ru(a)li favor of granting leave to amend.” Id.
V.
DISCUSSION

Defendants move to dismiss on the ground fhaintiffs do not have standing to challer
the assignment of their loan #ey are not a party to the apgoling and servicing agreement
any assignment of the loan. Defentfarequest that the Court tgkelicial notice of court record
and documents filed in the public record.

As a general rule, the court may not consaey material outside the pleadings in rul

on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.__United States vri@thian Colleges, 655 F.3d 984, 998 (9th (

2011). There are two exceptions to this rudden the complaint necessarily relies on

documents or where the court takes judicial motitdocuments. Lee V.t of Los Angeles, 25(

F.3d 668, 689 (9th Cir. 2001). Under the Federal RRaleourt may take judicial notice of a f
that is “not subject to reasdrla dispute in that it is eithefl) generally known within th

territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) cable of accurate and ready determination by re

ty’'s
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to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably b&tigued.” Fed. R. Evid. 201(b). Judic

ial

notice may be taken “of court filings and other matters of public record.” Reyn’s Pasta Bella, LLC

v. Visa USA, Inc., 442 F.3d 741, 746 n.6 (9th QBO6); Lee, 250 F.3d at 689. The Court gr3

Defendants’ request for judicial thwe of court filings and matters plblic record. The judiciall
noted records include:

1. January 9, 2017 Corporate Assignment of Dekdrust from MERS, as nominee f

Indymac Bank to Deutshce Bank Trust C@myp, recorded on January 18, 2017. (E

No. 30-1 at 33-34.)
2. Notice of Default, filed March 2®017. (ECF No. 30-1 at 36-39.)
3. Notice of Trustee’s Sale, recordedJame 29, 2017. (ECF No. 30-1 at 41-43.)
4. Voluntary Petition for Bankruptcy filed dgonald Osburn in casno. 17-13730 of th
Eastern District of California on Segphber 28, 2017. (ECF No. 30-1 at 45-52.)
5. Order Dismissing case no. 17-13730 of for failto timely file documents. (ECF N
54.)
6. Voluntary Petition for Bankruptcy filed by Ronald Osburn on November 30, 20
case no. 17-14566. (ECF No. 30-1 at 55- 63.)
7. Order granting trustee’s motion to dismfss failure to appear, timely oppose,
otherwise defend the matter in cae 17-14566. (ECF No. 30-1 at 65.)
A. Motion to Dismiss
1.  Standing
Defendants argue that the crux of Plaintifemplaint is that Defendants did not rece
proper reassignment of the loan and thus laagkdstg to initiate foreclasre proceedings, but th
fails as a matter of law as Plaintiffs do not have legal authority to challenge the assignmen
loan. Defendants argue that Plaintiffs are patties to any of the contracts that they
attempting to challenge and at most their aliega would make the camicts voidable, and n
void. Defendants contend that the cause of action for fraud, wrongfaldsuee, quiet title
cancellation of instruments, negligent misrepnéston, and unfair busige practices rest upon

theory that fails as a matter of law arnbgld be dismissed wibut leave to amend.
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a. Whether Plaintiffs have standing to bring a pre-foreclosur e suit

In Yvanova v. New Century Mortg. Corfi2 Cal.4th 919 (2016), the California Supre

Court considered whether the “borrower on a hdéoa@ secured by a deed trust may base 3
action for wrongful foreclosure orl@gations a purported assignmenttoé note and deed of try
to the foreclosing party bore dete rendering the assignment vbidévanova, 62 Cal.4th at 92

The Court held that, “because in a nonjudicial fareate only the original Imeficiary of a deed g

trust or its assignee or agentyndirect the trustee to sell éhproperty, an altgtion that the

assignment was void, and not merely voidable ab#tesst of the parties to the assignment,
support an action for wrongful feclosure.” _Id. Howeverthis holding was “narrow,” an
established “only that a borrower who has sufferednjudicial foreclosurdoes not lack standin
to sue for wrongful foreclosure based on angaitdy void assignment merely because he or
was in default on the loan and was not a partthéochallenged assignment.” Id. at 924. A \
contract or transaction is “withblegal effect” and is a “mere hity.” Id. at 929. A voidable
contract or transaction is oneathmay be declared void, but is not void in itself, and ma
subject to ratification by the pgées. See id. at 930.

Defendants argue that the California Supréoert carved out this limited exception tk
only applies to post-foreclosure claims and carbetused to preempt a threatened nonjud
foreclosure by a suit chatiging the foreclosing pars right to proceed as is at issue here.
Court reviews subsequent case k& determine if cous have found that éhholding in_Yvanovza
is limited to post foreclosure proceedings.

Some courts have found that the holding_in Yvanova would not be limited tg

foreclosure actions. For instance, in LundySelene Fin., LP, Nd5-CV-05676-JST, 2016 W

1059423 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 17, 2016), a federal distdatrt considered the lgpthat existed in
California courts as to “whethéine borrower on a home loan secured by a deed of trust ma

an action for wrongful foreclosumen allegations a purported assiggmh of the note and deed

trust to the foreclosing partbore defects rendering thasggnment void.” _Lundy, 2016 WL

1059423 at *8. The most prominent case which heddl shch plaintiffs daot have standing t
sue was Jenkins v. JP Morgan Chase Bank,,Ne26 Cal.App.4th 497 (2013), as modified (J
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12, 2013), and disapproved of by Yvanova,@.4th 919). Lundy2016 WL 1059423 at *8.

The opposite conclusion was reached_by Kilas Bank of Am., N.A., 218 Cal.App.4th 107}

(2013), which held that “a plaintiff has standitggchallenge a completed foreclosure base

allegations that the foreclosing party lackshauty due to an assignmietmat was void.”
The_Lundy court found that the ldeng in Yvanova was likely to be applied to two actiq

addressing the same issue in the pre-foreclosure context that the California Supreme Q

stayed while Yvanova was decided, Keshtgad.S. Bank, 334 P.3d 682014), and Mendoza

JP Morgan Chase Bank, 337 P.3d 493 (2014indy, 2016 WL 1059423 at *8. The court no
that at the time that Glaski issued it was kiv@e minority position on one side of the split
California courts._ld. at *9. Heever, Glaski had been validatby the California Supreme Col
and the_Lundy court determined that the CatifarSupreme Court would again reject Jen
holding that pre-foreclosure plaintiffs are not poeged by initiation offoreclosure proceeding
based on an allegedly void assiggnt. _Id. at *11. The court predicted that the Califo
Supreme Court would limit the holdings in Jenktnsonly those pre-foreckure plaintiffs whg

lack a specific factual basis to bring their clainhg. at *13; but see Shgtv. ARLP Securitizatior

Tr. Series 2014-2, No. CV160548ROGJISX, 2017 WL 8220702, at t€.D. Cal. Jan. 19, 201]

(Rejecting_ Lundy and finding the majority of authwin California addresing the issue followin

Yvanova have held that it did not create standingofirrowers prior to foreclosure. Because

establish standing to challenge an assignmergitimer a pre- or post-foreclosure context

plaintiff must assert harm thatqutuces invasion of his legal protedtinterest, prejudice or injur

While a plaintiff who has been foreclosed upoeets this standard, a borrower who has not

suffered a forecloserdoes not.)
Following the opinion in_Yvanova, the California Supreme Court denied revie

Keshtgar, and Mendoza and remanded for reconsiolerna light of the decision in Yvanova. S

Mendoza v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 6 Agb.5th 802 (2016), review denied (Mar. 1

2017); Keshtgar v. U.S. Bank, N.A., No. ZDVIL NO. B246193, 2016VL 4183750, at *1 (Aug,

8, 2016) (unpublished). On remand, the Keshtgartcheld that Yvanovlhad no bearing on pr¢

foreclosure actions because the finding was ldntte post foreclosure actions. Keshtgar, 2
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WL 4183750 at *1. The Mendoza court analyzedplantiff's claims andound she did not haye

standing to bring the action. Meéoza, 6 Cal.App.5th at 807.
In Saterbak v. JPMorgan Chase BankAN245 Cal.App.4th 808 (2016), reh’g den

ed

(Apr. 11, 2016), review denied (July 13, 2016), the Court of Appeal for the Fourth District

considered whether the trial court erred inding that a plaintiff wh was seeking to stop

threatened foreclosure did notvieastanding to bring the suitThe plaintiff alleged that the

assignments of her loan were invalid becausantimely securitization othe deed of trust and

robo-signing._Saterbak, 245 Cal.App.4th at 812 weieer, the court found that “California cou

do not allow such preemptive suits because theutdiresult in the impermissible interjection

the courts into a nonjudal scheme enacted by the California Iskgpure.” ” 1d. at 814. Allowing

a

rts

of

a plaintiff to bring such a suit would impose additional requirement that the defendant

demonstrate that it is authorized to initiatéoeeclosure which “would bénconsistent with th

policy behind nonjudicial foreclosure of providiagguick, inexpensive arefficient remedy.”_Id

1%}

at 814-15 (quoting_Gomes v. Countrywide ri® Loans, Inc., 192 Cal.App.4th 1149, 1156

(2011)). Since the plaintiff had brought a preefdosure action challengintbe lenders ability t
foreclose, she did not hawtanding. _Saterbak, 245 Cal.App4t 815. The court found th
Yvanova did not alter the standing issue bec#use&Supreme Court expressly limited the holg
to post-foreclosure suits. Id.

Other courts have similarly held that Yaava does not allow a plaintiff to bring a p
foreclosure suit to challenge the lenders abilitfoteclose before a nonjuaal foreclosure occur

and the legal authority rejecting preemptiveefdosure suits survives. See Rocha v. CIT B

N.A., No. 17-CV-05082-BLF, 2018 WL 1609636, *& (N.D. Cal. Apr. 3, 2018); Saterbak

Nat'| Default Servicing Corp., No. 15®56-WQH-BGS, 2016 WL 4430922t *7 (S.D. Cal

Aug. 22, 2016); Martinez v. CitiMortgage,dn No. D070284, 2017 WL 1101645, at *4 (Mar.

2017); Kaurloto v. U.S. Bank, N.A., Nd6-CV-06652-JFW-GJSX, 2016 WL 6808117, at

(C.D. Cal. Nov. 17, 2016), appeal dismissed saim. Kaurloto v. U.S. Bank NA, No. 16-5685

2017 WL 6403850 (9th Cir. Mar. 1, 2017); Bake Citi Mortg., Inc., No. A148458, 2018 W

1790709, at *9 (Apr. 16, 2018)(unpublished). Recemtlgn unpublished case, the Ninth Cirg
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recognized the holding in_Yvanova, but foutitht “[n]othing about_Yvanova suggests th

contrary to longstanding precedent on this po@ulifornia now allows an action for wrongful

foreclosure before a foreclosure takes place.” Wasijutin v. BaAkofN.A., No. 16-55974, 201]

WL 1918194, at *2 (9th Cir. Api24, 2018) (unpublished); see aldagman v. Nationstar Mortg.

at,

8

LLC, 699 F.App’x 634, 635 (9th Cir. 2017) (“As wevmin the past, we join the majority
courts that have declined to extend Yvanova.”).

The Court is persuaded by the weight othauty finding that under California law
plaintiff cannot bring a preemp#vsuit to stop foreclosure on profye The California Suprem
Court has not held that a borrower may filpraemptive challenge to stop foreclosure and
holding in Yvanova was “narrovand established “only thaa borrower who has suffered
nonjudicial foreclosure does notcla standing to sue for wrongf foreclosurebased on a
allegedly void assignment merely because he emsds in default on the loan and was not a g
to the challenged assignmentd. at 924. Further, the Supremeutt stated that the ruling wag
narrow one and they did “not hold or suggest thabrrower may attempt to preempt a threate
nonjudicial foreclosure by a suit questioning thee@bosing party’s right to proceed.” Yvano
62 Cal.4th at 924.

Additionally, “the provisionssetting forth California’s nonjudial foreclosure scheme (&
2924-2924Kk) cover every aspect of thereise of a power of sale cairted in a deed of trus
The purposes of this comprehensive scheme are threefold: (1) to provide the beneficiary
with a quick, inexpensive and efficient remedyiagt a defaulting trustor-debtor; (2) to prot
the trustor-debtor from wrongful $8 of the property; and (3) tosme that a properly conduct
sale is final between the parties and congkisas to a bona fide purchaser.” Jenkins,
Cal.App.4th at 509-10. “The comprehensive stayutramework establisloe[in sections 2924 t
2924k] to govern nonjudicial foreclosure salesingended to be exhaustive.” Debrunner

Deutsche Bank Nat. Tr. Co., 204 Cal.App.4th 4880 (2012) (citations omitted). Allowing

1 Unpublished dispositions and orders of this Court issued afterJanuary 1, 2007 may be cited to the courts of
circuit in accordance with FRAP 32.1. Ninth Circuit Rule 36-3(b); see Animal Legal DefviEMtgsheman, 490 F.3
725, 733 (9th Cir. 2007) (“as of January 1, 2007, we mowst allow parties to cite even unpublished dispositions
unpublished orders as persuasive authority”).
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plaintiff to bring a preemptive suit to precludedolosure would impose an additional requirement

that the defendant demonstrate that it is aighdrto initiate a forelosure which “would bé¢

inconsistent with the policy béend nonjudicial foreclosure gdroviding a quick, inexpensive and

efficient remedy.”_Saterlba 245 Cal.App.4th at 814-15.

Further, to establish standing to challenge an assignment in either a pre- or post-for

context the plaintiffs must assert harm thabsduces invasion of their dal protected interest,

prejudice or injury. The Yvanova court found thatlaintiff who has been foreclosed upon cle

meets this standard, Yvanova, ®al.4th at 937, a borrower who hast yet suffered a foreclosu

does not.

Finally, the majority of courts, including thdinth Circuit, have dealed to extend that

A\1”4

eclosure

arly

re

holding in Yvanova to allow a plaintiff to filean action for wrongful foreclosure before a

foreclosure takes place. Theo@t finds that Plaintis do not have standg in this action to

challenge the threatened foreclosure.

b. Whether the Complaint AllegesVoid or Voidable Assignment

Further, even assuming that Plaintiffsv@astanding, the allegations do not demonstrate

that the assignment was void.

Plaintiff alleges that the note dated Mait7, 2006, was not duly endorsed, transferred and

delivered to anyone after its iratidate of execution and wasvee duly endorsed, transferred, and

delivered to the Trust prior to the closing dateApril 27, 2006. (Compl. T 41.) Plaintiff furth
alleges that the note was never actually simmed or delivered tohe Depositor and by th
Depositor to the custodian on behalf of the Tqrsor to theclosing date ofApril 27, 2006, and
therefore the note was never lalifunegotiated and physically delivered to the trust. (Com

44.) Plaintiff contends that the note was neveuallt transferred or delivered to the deposito

the custodian on behalf of the trust®r the trust prior to the closirdate or at all. (Compl. 47|

Plaintiff also contends that about March 2009, anlgale agreement was created but transfe
and from Onewest were never made. (Compl. 42.)
“The authority to exercise all of the righdad interests of the lender necessarily incld

the authority to assign the deed of trusBaterbak, 245 Cal.App.4th at 816 (citations omitt
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Cases hold that assignments which “allegedly bijepehterm or terms of a PSA” are voidab

e

rather than void because “the biaiaries, not the borrower, have the right to ratify the trustee’s

unauthorized acts.” __Hacker v. HomewardsRential, Inc., 23 daApp.5th 111, 121 (2018).

California courts have rejectethe argument that the trusteeeds to have actual physi
possession of the note and deedros$t to institute nonjudicidbreclosure proceedings. Kalng

v. First Am. Tr. Servicing Sols., LLC, 8 Calpf.5th 23, 42 (2017), reh’g denied (Feb. 22, 20

review denied (May 10, 2017) (citing Siliga Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, |

219 Cal.App.4th 75, 84 n.5 (2013); Shuster v. BA@ne Loans Servicing, LP, 211 Cal.App.4

505, 511 (2012); Debrunner, 204 Cal.App.4th at 441.

Plaintiff also contends thdlhe pooling and serwe agreement requirdgdat on the closin
date, “the depositor will deliver or cause to dmivered to the trustee the mortgage file, wh
contains among other things, the original mortgagge (and any modification or amendment tc
endorsed in blank without recourse, ... an assignmeaetordable form of the mortgage, ... anc
applicable, all recorded intervening assignmenti®imortgage and any riders or modification
the mortgage note and mortgage.”. (Compl. 1 43.) Plaintiff allges that this was never dof
(1d.)

Plaintiff contends that the 2017 assigmindid not occur by April 27, 2006 and was
recorded until January8, 2017 long after the trust has closd@ompl.  45.) Plaintiff allege
that the assignment was ineffective because tis¢ ¢ould not have accepted the deed of trust
the closing date pursuant to the PSA and nontamge with the PSA and the requirements
REMIC trust. (Id.) Also, if assignment wadter the closing date, the REMIC statutes wd
terminate the trust by extinghiing its tax-exempt sta. (Id.) Because thtsansfer did not occy
by April 27, 2006, but on January 18, 2017, long after the trust has closed, the assignn
ineffective and void ab initio. (Compl. § 48.)

There is no requirement under California law tloe assignment of a eé of trust to b¢

recorded in order for an assighkeneficiary to forecloseCalvo v. HSBC BankJSA, N.A., 199

Cal. App. 4th 118, 123 (2011). Assignme of debt, in contrast tihe assignment of the secur]

interest, are commonly noécorded. _Herrera v. Fed. Nat. Mortg. Assn., 205 Cal.App.4th !
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1506 (2012), disapproved of by Yvanova, 62 Cal9i®). Therefore, a lender can assign
promisory note to another entity in an unreeatrddocument that was not publicly disclos
Herrera, 250 Cal.App.4th at 1506. Fat, the allegations do not gtahat any transfers were n
timely recorded, but the complaint alleges tha 2017 assignment of the deed of trust
recorded on January 18, 2017.

In Mendoza the plaintiff made similar argurntealleging that the untimely assignment i
a securitization trust and rolsigning made the assignments void. Mendoza, 6 Cal.App.§
811. The court considered that Glaski had foundadhatjations that ansaignment that occurre
after the closing date were sufficient to suppntallegation that the assignment was void
defeat an attack on the groundsténding. _Mendoza, 6 Cal.Aph5at 811-12. However, cour
routinely hold that a borrower does not have stagdo challenge an alleged breach of the te
of the PSA because it is the beneficiary ant the borrower who have the right to ratify t
trustee’s unauthorized actsd. lat 813-817 (collectingases). Similarly, the court rejected
contention that failing to transf the corpus into the REMICithin three months would violat
federal law and make the transaction void, noting ditfaér courts had rejected this argument.
at 818.

“While transferring a note to the REMIC ghit have negative tax consequences for
REMIC investors, Plaintiffshave not argued any reason wisych a transfer would [
‘meaningless and legally unenforceable.’Mendoza, 6 Cal.App.5th dt4 (quoting Williams v

GMAC Mortg. Inc., No. 13 civ. 4315 (JRO), 20WL 2560605, at p. *4 (S.D.N.Y. June 6, 2014

A later transfer into the REMIC may have niga tax consequences, blaising favorable ta
treatment does not necessarily jeajpze the tax status tie entire trustMendoza, 6 Cal.App.5t
at 819. “The tax implications of securitizatiomply do not render a void&btransaction void.
Id. The court concluded that allegations thateheere violations of the PSA or federal law m
the contract voidable, but not void. Finally, the court found that because the bank, and
borrower is the injured party, the assignment was in fact robmned, it would be voidable, n

void, at the injured party’s option. Id. (i Pratap v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 63 F.Sup

1101, 1109 (N.D. Cal. 2014)). 1t is the prevadliview that homeowners lack standing
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challenge the validity of robo-signatures because the transaction is voidable, not void. Me

Cal.App.5th at 820; Kaurto, 2016 WL 6808117, at *5.

Similarly, courts hold that #&ransfer of a secured loan molation of the terms of th

ndoza, 6

e

securitized trust is at most voidable, ratttean void, and the homeowner has no standing to

challenge the transaction. Maez, 2017 WL 1101645, at *4; RenardJP Morgan Chase Bank,

N.A., No. LACV1700820JAKGJSX, 2017 WL 8292774, at *8 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 13, 2017) se
Suruki v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, Nb7-15039, 2018 WL 2327207, at *1 (9th Cir. May

2018) (unpublished) (belated assignment ahleenders transach voidable, not void).

e also

3,

The Court finds that the allegations in t@mmplaint would make the assignments voidable,

but not void. Accordingly, evelh the California Supreme Cownas to extend Yvanova to allow

for pre-foreclosure actions, Plaintiffs would not fall withire thmited exception recognized
Yvanova to bring a wrongf foreclosure action.
For these reasons, Plaintiffs claims lohsgon the alleged improper assignment of

loans are premature and cannot proceed in thisractPlaintiffs allege tht Defendants Deutsh

Bank, Ocwen, and MERS committed fraud becabsenote, dated March 17, 2006 was not duly

endorsed transferred and delivered anyone after its initialate of execution and was
delivered to the trust prior todtclosing date of Agr27, 2006, and the signatuof Plaintiff Sadie
Osburn was removed. Plaintiffs contend thatrtbe was never actually transferred or delive
to the trust prior to the closing date of Ap#7, 2006. Plaintiffs alige that the defendan
misrepresented or concealed theetfacts regarding the transfertbg&ir note and deed of trust
assigning it to Indymac after the closing date.e Bssignment of the trust did not occur by A
27, 2006, but on January 18, 2017 after the trustclembd. The pooling and service agreen
required the original mortgage note, endorsedlenk, to be delivered with all interveni
endorsements showing the complete chain of endorsement and this was noPldaméfs allege
that these actions were done with intent to defftaem and the public with regards to the staty
the note.

Plaintiffs’ negligent misrepresentation causfeaction alleges the Plaintiffs contend t

due to the deficiencies identified in the cdampt the note was neveroperly transferred an
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Defendants MERS Ocwen, and Deutsche Bank missepted that they reted rights under th
March 17, 2006 deed of trust.

Plaintiffs contend that the notice offdelt recorded on March 20, 2017, was void du
the failure to properly endorse the loan, transfer the, laad the modification of signatures on

note during the loan transfer processl bring a claim to quiet title.

D

Plaintiffs also seek cancellation of the inet of default, notice of trustee sale, and

assignment of deed of trust.

The UCL claim alleges that Defendants misespnted information causing an assignment

of their loan to entities that dlinot have the right to receiveetlassignment; used their power to

make transfers of the note and deed of trugr dhe closing date dhe pooling ad servicing
agreements and thereby provided false informatidhéqublic and financially interested pers
which are fraudulent business praes. Plaintiffs contend thdefendants engaged in fraudul

business practices by implementing improper premature foreclosure proceedings; excu

DNS

D
=]
—

5ing

and recording false and misleading documentsceting and recording legal documents without

legal authority; failing to disclose the principlr which documents were being recorded in

violation of California Civil Codesection 1095, and acting as bkciaries and tustees without

legal authority.

These claims all rest upon the improper asagmt of the loans andlaintiff’'s do not have

standing under California lawo bring a preemptiveaction to stop the foreclosure on th
property. Accordingly, the Court finds that Defentsa motion to dismiss should be granted a
Plaintiffs’ cause of action for &ud, wrongful foreclosure, quiet title, cancellation of instrume
negligent misrepresentatiomadunfair business practices.

2. Real Estate Settlement Prdames Act (‘RESPA™), 12 U.S.C. 8 2605

Plaintiffs contend that about NovemI®2&, 2017, a qualified written request (“QWR”) w
provided to Ocwen by Federal Expseand it was not acknowledged within five days of rec
When they inquired of Ocwen, Ocwen stateal it had never received the request.

“Congress enacted RESPA in 1974 to protect hbayers from inflated prices in the hor
purchasing process.” Schuetz v. Banc ®twrtg. Corp., 292 F.3d 1004, 1008 (9th Cir. 20(
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Pursuant to section 2605(e), anyveeer of a related mortgagedn who receives a QWR from t

borrower for information relating to the loan must provide a written response acknowledg

receipt of the correspondence witlb days unless the action reqtesl is taken with the time

period. 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1)(AA borrower who fails to comply with this section is liable
actual damages or statutory damages not to exceed $2,000. 12 U.S.C. § 2605(f)(1). Sec

only relates to the servicing @ loan, not to its ownership ealidity. Tamburri v. Suntrus

Mortg., Inc., 875 F.Supp.2d 1009, 1014 (N.D. Cal. 2012).

While Plaintiff alleges thaDcwen has a pattern or practimefailing to respond to QWR
and failing to acknowledge receipt, the compladtoes not include any factual allegatic
sufficient to support the allegation. Plaintiffentend that on a singleccasion, November 2
2017, they sent a request that was not responded to within five days.

Moreover, to state a RESPA claim, courtaerally require a showing of pecuniary Ig

from the failure to comply to state a cfai Allen v. United Fin. Mortg. Corp., 660 F.Supp

1089, 1097 (N.D. Cal. 2009). Plaintiffs have natluded any factual allegjans about the reque
that was submitted on November 26, 2017, nor have they alleged damages due to the
violation. Plaintiffs’ contusory allegations that they sufferddmages is not sufficient to statg
claim.

Here, Plaintiffs are alleging defects in the loan documents and transfer of the loan |
different entities. RESPA is not designed to codsputes as to the aarship or validity of &
loan. Tamburri, 875 F.Supp.2d at 1014. To the extenttPlaintiffs’ allegedamages in this actig
from the defective transfers, the damages sufferdd not be from the failure to respond to s
inquiries, but would be due todHoreclosure of the property. Gudamages are not sufficient
state a claim under RESPA becaussytare not caused by the failure to respond to the QWR.

The Court recommends that Defendants’ motion to dismiss the RESPA claims sh
granted.

3. Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1638

Plaintiffs assert that since 2016, Defemd#®cwen has refused to provide mont

mortgage statements to them and has refused to communicate with Ron Osburn about th

17

ne

ing the

for
tion 2605

t

NS

DSS

2d

RESPA

petween

ould be

hly

e subject




© 00 N o o A~ w NP

N N N N N N N NN R P R R R R R R R
o ~N o O B~ W N P O © 0 ~N o 00 M W N B O

loan. Plaintiffs contend this is a violation of 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1§88( Defendants argue th
Plaintiff's claims are least partip barred by the statute of limtians. Further, Defendants arg
that Plaintiffs claim damage by being unableatsxrertain their monthly statement amount
section 1638 does not require infation regarding monthly payant amounts on the billing cyc
statements.

Section 1638(f) provides thateeditor, assignee, or serviadra residential mortgage sh

transmit to the debtor, for each billing cycle, @ainent that sets forth the following information:

(A) The amount of the principal obligation under the mortgage.

(B) The current interest rate in effect for the loan.

(C) The date on which the intereate may next reset or adjust.

(D) The amount of any prepaymdae to be charged, if any.

(E) A description of any late payment fees.

(F) A telephone number and electromail address that may be used by the
obligor to obtain inform@on regarding the mortgage.

(G) The names, addresses, telephone numbers, and Internet addresses of
counseling agencies or programs reabbnavailable to the consumer that
have been certified or approved anddm@ublicly available by the Secretary
of Housing and Urban Delapment or a State housing finance authority (as
defined in section 1441a-1 of Title 12).

(H) Such other information as tB®ard may prescribe in regulations.

15 U.S.C. § 1638(f)(1).

Pursuant to TILA, any claim based on auesl to make material disclosures must

brought within one year from the date of thecurrence of the violan. 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e);

Hallas v. Ameriquest Mortg. Co., 406 F.Suppl2d'6, 1183 (D. Or. 2005), aff'd, 280 F.App’'x 6

(9th Cir. 2008). Here, the complaint in trastion was filed on March 3, 2018. (ECF No.
Therefore, any claim that arose prior to eta 3, 2017, would be barred by the statute
limitations.

Plaintiffs TILA action is based on theiliae to provide mortgge statements, whid
Plaintiffs allege started in 2016. Therefore, stetute of limitations has run on the TILA clai
Further, to the extent that Ptéifs contend that mortgageas¢ments should continue to
provided, the notice of default and election tibwas filed March 20, 2017. (ECF No. 30-1 at
39.) The notice of default informed Plaintitfsat they were required to pay $18,931.43 by A
4, 2017 to avoid foreclosure. (ECF No. 30-1 at 36alifornia requires lender to contact th

borrower 30 days prior to filing notice of default “the borrowerfsancial situation and explo
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options for the borrower to avoid foreclosureCal. Civ. Code 8§ 2923.5(a). Plaintiffs do not

allege that they were not contacted ptmthe notice of dault being filed.

Plaintiffs’ cannot allege any harm due te thailure to provide mortgage statements gnce

the notice of default was filed for they wereealdy in default and the mortgage company was no

longer accepting monthly payments. At this poikaintiffs were requed to bring the loa
current to avoid foreclosure.The Court finds that Plaintiffhave failed to state a claim f
violation of TILA. The Court recommends tHaéfendants’ motion to dismiss the TILA claim
granted.

4, Breach of Contract

In the complaint, Plaintiffs allege that fraime time that they executed a loan modifica
agreement until the date the complaint was filed they fully complied with the loan modifi

terms and conditions by making the monthly mage payments to make them current

-

be

lion
cation

and

Defendants breached the agreement by refusingppdy their monthly payments. Defendants

argue that Plaintiffs cannot comdpperformance of the contract while they are in defau
evidenced by the complaint.

A cause of action for damages for breacleaitract under California law is comprised
the following elements: “(1) the contract, (2) plaintiffs performance or excuse
nonperformance, (3) defendant’s breach, and (4)ebidting damages to plaintiff.” _Careau & (

v. Sec. Pac. Bus. Credit, Inc., 222 Cal. App.1371, 1388 (1990), as modified denial of reh’g

(Oct. 31, 2001); accord Wall St. Network, Lid.New York Times Co., 164 Cal.App.4th 11]

1178 (2008). “[l]t is elementary that one partyaaontract cannot compel another to perf

while he himself is in default.”_Durell v. Sharp Healthcare, 183 Cal.App.4th 1350, 1367

(citations omitted).

Plaintiffs allege that a loan modificatiovas received from IndyMac Bank in 2011, &
payments at the time were $880.00 per mori@ompl. § 28.) Around 2016, after Ocwen be
servicing their loan, Plaintiffs noticed that theionthly mortgage payme&nwere increasing an
decreasing without an explamam. (Compl. Y 34, 113.) Aftecommunication with Ocwen i

2016, the mortgage account was shut down and Plaintiffs were prevemtetiaving access t
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their account and making payment towards thenlo(Compl. {1 35.) IMarch 2017, Plaintiffs

received a notice of default. ¢@pl. I 36, 115.) Plaintiffs allegbat each month that a payment

was made they were presented with different ansotmpay, and were left with no choice but to

guess what their payment requirement was eachtm (Compl. § 116.) Plaintiffs paid t
amount they believed they were requiredpy, many months amounting to more than
minimum payment set forth in the loan agreement. (Compl. 1 116.)

While Plaintiffs allege that they compdiewith all terms of tB 2011 modification, th

Court is not required to accept asdrallegations that contradicthebits attached to the complai

or matters properly subject tqudicial notice, or allegationghat are merely conclusory,

unwarranted deductions of faot, unreasonable inferences. DelsiHall v. National Educ. Ass’n

629 F.3d 992, 998 (9th Cir. 2010). The loan modiftcatgreement attached to the complaint

the

nt

and

signed by Ron Osburn on November 22, 2010, shbatsPlaintiffs’ payments were $965.16 per

month beginning on December 1, 2010 for 60 moimbkiding impounds which could increas

(ECF No. 1-16 at 4.) The agreent also provides that the pagnt could increase on December

1, 2016, December 1, 2017, and December 1, 2017. (Tth¢ notice of default attached

Plaintiffs’ complaint shows thddefendants were in default afJanuary 1, 2016. (ECF No. 1-

at 4.) The Court finds that Pidiffs’ allegations that they conipd with all requirements of the

loan modification are contradicted by other statesand the exhibits attached to the complaint,

and therefore, are not entitlemla presumption of truth.

The Court finds that Plaintiffs have failed alege a plausible brela of contract claim

against Defendants. The Court recommends Eredendants’ motion to dismiss the breach of

contract claim should be granted.
5. Conclusion
Based on the foregoing, the Court finds tbefendants’ motion to dismiss should

granted. The Court next considers Riiéi's motion to amend the complaint.

2 A court generally cannot consider material outside of the complaint when ruling oroa moalismiss._Hal Roach
Studios, Inc. v. Richard Feiner & Co., 896 F.2d 1542, 1555 n.19 (9th Cir. 198@)eVvEio the incorporation by

reference doctrine allows material tieattached to the complaint to bensidered, as well as “unattached evidenc
on which the complaint ‘necessarily relies’ if: (1) the complaint refers to the document; (2) the document is ce
plaintiff's claim; and (3) no party questions the authenticity of the document.” Cannflulleges, 655 F.3d at 999
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B. Motion to Amend

Plaintiffs seek to file an amended complaint to delete the RESPA claims and
information regarding the remang causes of action. Again, Datlants counter that the crux
the amended complaint is that Defendants did reotive proper assignmieof the loan; an
therefore, amendment is futile as Plaintiffs lacnsling. Plaintiff replies that recently in Hack
the court evaluated a similar situation and was alibteebring suit challengg the foreclosure.

1. First Amended Complaint

In the first amended complaint, Plaintiffs deleted the RESPA cause of action and ir
the following additionafactual allegations.

In the first cause of actiofor fraud, Plaintiffs allege #t section 2.01 of the poolir
service agreement required the seller to transfeéhdodepositor all interest of the seller of
mortgage loans. (First Am. Comg@*FAC”) § 57.) Plaintiffs corgnd that the aggnments of the
deed of trust purportedly assiggi all beneficial interest in ghnote was not conducted by t
proper party and thus was void ab initio. (ld.)

In the second cause of action for wrongfukfdose, Plaintiffs contend that Defendants
a sale date set for May 3, 2018, dmale placed the sale on hold dain an advantage in th
proceeding. (FAC 1 68.) A new saldal& set for July 17, 2018. (Id.)

In the third cause of action for quiet title aRitiff contend that thy have attempted |
make payments to the proper noteholder but have been prevented from doing so because
noteholder’s identify has not been determined anor attempts and offer® tender have bee
refused. (FAC 73.)

In the sixth cause of action for breach ohtract, Plaintiffs allge that in or around 201
Ocwen closed Plaintiffs’ account and stopped repgrthe loan to credit bureaus. In or ab

September 2016, when Plaintiffsviewed their credit reports theyoticed that the mortgag

became inactive, as if it no longexisted as of 2016. (FAC Y 100As Plaintiff's believed that

they account had been closed and was no longertesl to credit bureaus, Plaintiff did not kng
and Ocwen refused to communicate with thema@dequate payment method. (FAC § 101.)

In the seventh cause of actifor violation of the Truth inLending Act, Plaintiffs allegg
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that starting in January 201hathrough March 2018, Ocwen has refused to provide mor
statements to Plaintiff and has refused to comigate with Plaintiff Ror©Osburn about the subje
loan. (FAC 1 111.) As aresult, Plaintiff R@sburn’s credit has been ruined. (Id.)

In the eighth cause of action for violation tbe UCL, Plaintiffs alleges that Defenda
were not the beneficiaries or noteholders attiine that the notice of default was recorded,
that a new sale date has beerfeeJuly 17, 2018. (FAC { 119.)

2. Discussion

Plaintiffs argue that recently the Califiim Court of Appeals decided Hacker wh
addressed a similar situation to that presented Helantiff contends tht Defendants misconstr
their argument which is that MERS did not havehatity to assign the deed of trust, not that
loan was not timely transferred into the trust. mI#s contend that similar to the argument m

by the plaintiff in_Hacker, the assignment was voi@lherefore, they argue that the fact t

Plaintiffs are not parties to th@ooling and servicing agreementnst relevant. Rlintiffs also
argue that the deed of trust and the note spli¢ and there is no underlying right by any of

named defendants to enforce the note.

a. Plaintiffs do not have standing to bring action to preempt foreclosur e

In Hacker, the plaintiff was transferred progeat part of a settlement agreement and

[gage

ct

nts

and

ch

the

ade

h

at

the

sued

multiple defendants alleging claims for breach atten contracts; breach of the covenant of gpod

faith and fair dealing; wrongful, improper andaddulent trustee sale; fraud; unfair busin
practices; cancellation of void imstents; slander of title; diratory relief, and specifi
performance of contract. 23 IGpp.5th at 113-115. Some of tlsaims were premised on «
alleged breach of the terms of the deed of st short sale agreememideothers challenged tt
assignment of the deed of trust and subseqeentded instruments that he alleged were void
a sham. _Id. at 115. The defendants filed a demurrer which was granted without leave tg
Id. at 116-17.

On appeal, the appellate court found that tital court properlydund that the plaintif

failed to allege facts establishimgn ownership interest sufficient tmnfer standing._Id. at 118.

The plaintiff had not attached the grant deed diddnot establish that hwas the owner of th
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grant deed in the filed complaints. Id. at 1119owever, the appellate court also found that
trial court misconstrued the nature of the pléfisticlaim. Plaintiff was not alleging that th

parties violated the terms of the PSA nor waschallenging any aspeciof the securitizatio

the
e

n

process whereby the original mortgage was transfeoréte trust._Id. The plaintiff alleged that a

subsequent assignment of the deed of trust wakbemause at the time of the transfer, it was
because the loan had already been sold mesoe else and there was no longer a bene
interest in the loato convey. _ld.

The appellate court found that the trial coabtised its discretion biailing to allow the

void

ficial

plaintiff the opportunity to file an amended complaint. Id. at 121. The property had been acquired

in a foreclosure sale and the plaintiff allegbdt the seller had no power to foreclose on

the

property because it was never the true owner of the afeedst. 1d. Had the plaintiff alleged that

the assignment violated the P®Awould merely have been voidable, not void. Id. Here,

plaintiff was clearly alleging that the foreclosipgrty never possessed legjle to the property;

and therefore, the assigent was void._Id.

The Court finds Hacker to be distinguishable from the instant action on two grounds|

the foreclosure in_Hacker had already occurretherefore, Hacker falls within the limited

exception recognized by Yvanova to bring a wrongful foreclosure action. However, wh
action alleging that there is a pending foreclositireas not yet occurred. So, this action is
within the exception recognized in Yvanova.

Second, the plaintiff in_Hacker was naehallenging the assignment based on

the

First,

le this

not

the

securitization process by which the mortgage wassferred. The plaintiff claimed that at the

time of the second assignment, the lender had prdyieakl the interest ithe loan so no longer

possessed interest in the loaHere, Plaintiffs are not allegintpat the defendants had sold
transferred the loan to someone else and no longdrthellegal interest in the loan. Plaintiff
challenging the securitization process itself.

Plaintiff also alleges thatection 2.01 of the pooling sére agreement required the se
to transfer to the depositor all interest of the seller of the mortgage loans; and that the the

trust and the note were split so the defendants have no authority to foreclose on the
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Pursuant to section 2.01 of ther@gment, the depositoratisferred to the sellall interest in the

mortgage loan (a); and allterest in the trust fund (8).(ECF No. 1-17 at 82.) Citing In re Ve
450 BR 897, 916 (2011), Plaifis argue that Exhibit 7 demonsteatthat the deed of trust w
assigned without the note and thereftine, note was unsecured and unenforceable.

In re Veal, was a bankruptcy case in whilsh question considered was whether the |

had standing to seek relief from the automd@nkruptcy stay; and is not persuasive in

as

nank

the

circumstances presented here. rénVeal recognized thauhder the common law generally, the

transfer of a mortgage withotke transfer of theobligation it securesenders the mortgag
ineffective and unenforceable in the hands & transferee.” _In ré&/eal, 450 B.R. at 915
However, some states have altethis rule by statute. Id. 8t6-17. In re Veal recognized th
California was one of the states that hathnged the common law rule by the nonjud

foreclosure statute. |d. &16-17, n.34; In re Marks\o. BAP CC-12-1140-KIDH, 2012 W

6554705, at *7 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. Dec. 14, 2013j,08 624 F. App’x 963 (9th Cir. 2015).
Because of the exhaustive nature of the nonjudical foreclosure scheme, “Ca
appellate courts have refusedréad any additional requiremenitgo the non-judicial foreclosur

statute.” _Lane v. Vitek Redlstate Indus. Grp., 713 F.SuppZb2, 1098 (E.D. Cal. 2010) (citir

Moeller v. Lien, 25 Cal.App.4th 822, 834 (1994); I.E. Assoc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 39

281 (1985)). There is “no stateelquirement in California’s non-judal foreclosure scheme th
requires a beneficial interest in the Note to fayeel Rather, the statuteoadly allows a trustes
mortgagee, beneficiary, or anytbkir agents to initiate non-judatiforeclosure. Accordingly, th
statute does not require a benefidmérest in both the Note and the Deed of Trust to comme

non-judicial foreclosure sale.Debrunner, 204 Cal.App.4th 441; Lane, 713 F.Supp.2d at 10

see also In re Marks, 2012 WL 6554705, at *8 (ifGenia’s nonjudicial foeclosure statutes are

governed by CAL. CIV. CODE (*CCC”) 88924 through 2924k, which do not require that
note be in the possession oé tharty initiating foreclosure.”); Jenkins, 216 Cal.App.4th at 513

3 Although the amended complaint states that théiqgpand service agreement is attached at exhibit 16,
there is no exhibit 16 and the Court finds no suckemgent attached. (FAC f.X2However, the pooling
and servicing agreement is attached to the M8r@018 complaint. (ECF No. 1-17.)
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find the statutory provisions, because they broadtorize a “trustee, mortgagee, or benefici

or any of their authorized agents” to initiate@judicial foreclosure (8924, subd. (a)(1), italigs

added), do not require that therdolosing party havean actual beneficiainterest in both th

promissory note and deed of trust to commeand execute a nonjudicidbreclosure sale.

Jenkins, 216 Cal.App.4th at 513.

ary,

1%}

As previously addressed, Ritffs allegations that the transfer was not completed pursuant

to the terms of the agreements only alleges dalbée transaction. Hacket3 Cal.App.5th at 121.

Plaintiffs have not included arfgcts in the proposed amended cdaiy to sufficient to allege

a

void transaction. Plaintiffs allegations in tpeoposed amendment are substantially similar to

those in the complaint and allege voidable, it void transactions. For these reasons, an
reasons discussed supra at IV.A.1, the Court find$Ptlaattiffs do not havetanding in this actio
to challenge the threatened foreclosure.

To the extent that Plaintiffs allege tHagfendants are wrongfully avoiding foreclosure

0 the

=]

the property to prevent them from having standthg, Court rejects this argument. On March 3,

2018, Plaintiffs filed this action pr@reclosure. (ECF No. 1.) Fusr, Plaintiffs filed a motion o

March 20, 2018, for a temporary resting order to stop the foreclose sale on their home. (ECF

No. 4.) Judge O’Neill issued a temporary raisiing order on March 26, 2018. (ECF No. 16.)

The temporary restraining order was disedlon April 10, 2018. (ECF No. 35.)

Plaintiffs have chosen to prosecute thisacseeking to stop the foreclosure sale of their

home, and the Court can infer no evil motive on HedfaDefendants because the relief Plain
sought, to stop the foreclosure sale, has beenvesteilt was Plaintiffs decision to bring th
premature action, and the defendaaégision to defer the forecloe sale while this action
being litigated to determine if they hatres right to foreclose is reasonable.

b. TILA

Defendants argue that the amended complaint states that the alleged TILA violation
in January 1, 2017, and are therefore, barred bgtttate of limitations. Defendants continue
argue that Plaintiffs’ have not include allegatitmsupport a claim for damages as required by

statute.
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Plaintiffs reply that Defenads did not providenonthly statements beginning in 2016 &
no statements were received uMirch 2018. Plaintiffs contendahthe purpose dhe statute is
to ensure that borrowers receive monthly mortgage statements that disclose the current
their obligation, to provide accurate informatidooat their mortgage, and &dlow the borrower t¢
understand any errors and htavavoid them. Plaintiffs argueaththey were reqred to guess &
their monthly mortgage payments and the only weaget Ocwen’s attention was to stop mak
mortgage payments with the hope that the ervapsld be resolved. Plaintiffs state that
inaccurate credit reporting caused damage to tnedit, monetary damage, and damage to
reputation.

The Court finds that Plaintiffs have failedstate a TILA claim for the reasons discusse
IV.A.3. In the amended complaint, Plaintiffs giéethat inaccurate crigdeporting caused dama
to their credit report, but the complaint prdlleges that in or around 2016, Ocwen clg
Plaintiffs’ account and epped reporting the loan to credit baus. (FAC { 100.) In or abag
September 2016, when Plaintiffsviewed their credit reports theyoticed that the mortgag
became inactive, as if it no longer existed a2@t6. (FAC { 100.) While Plaintiffs make t
conclusory allegation that PHiff Ron Osburn’s credit has beenined, there are no facty
allegations to support such a claim. Even if the account had been closed and the loan
reported to the credit bureaus, it is unclear howfdfiere to report would “rin” his credit. If no
reports were made then there would be no repattthie loan was delinquent or a foreclosure
pending.

The limitations period here would be basedtlos filing of the complaint, and would |
March 3, 2017. Plaintiffs fail to allege any factual allegations by which the Court can reas
infer that they suffered damages from the failtogprovide periodic statements after March
2017.

C. Breach of Contract

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs’ breach ohiract claim remains defent as they did nd
perform their obligations under therdract. In the amended complaiRtaintiffs allege that the

did not know, and Ocwen refused to communicath thhem, an adequate payment method. (F
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1 101.) However, the allegations in the compglalso indicate that Plaiiffs were receiving
periodic statements prior $anuary 1, 2017. (FAC Y 111.)
While Plaintiffs argue thathey did not know who or védre to pay their mortgage,

October 16, 2013, Plaintiffs’ receivednotice of seimg transfer which stateithat the mortgagin

servicing rights were transfed to Defendant Ocwen. AE  96.) Around 2015, Defendant

g

Ocwen was servicing their loan and that the pawyts were increasing and decreasing withoyt an

explanation by Ocwen. (FAC 97 Defendant Ocwen eventually shut down their mortgage

account and prevented them frdmving access to their ammt. (FAC § 99.) Around 2016

Defendant Ocwen closed theaccount. (FAC § 100.) Thellegations in the complaint

demonstrate that Plaintiffs were aware that Ocwas servicing their loan and indicates that t

were receiving information on the monthly payment amounts through 2016.

Further, the notice of defawdnd election to sell under deefitrust, dated March 13, 2017,

informed Plaintiffs that they were requirempay $18,931.43 as of April 4, 2017. (ECF No. 30-1

at 36. To find out the amount pay, or arrange for payment tagtthe foreclosures, Plaintif

were to contact:

DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY asTrusteefor
INDYMAC INDX MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST 2006-ARIl, MORTGAGE
PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES Series 2006-ARII, By Ocwen Loan
Servicing, LLC, itsattorney in-fact

C/OWestern Progressive, LLC
Northpark Town Center
1000 Abernathy Rd NE; Bldg 400, Suite 200
Atlanta, GA 30328
Servicer Phone: 877-596-8580

(ECF No. 30-1 at 37.) Plaintiffs were informbyg the notice of default the amount due to br

the loan current and who to contact to make such payment.

Plaintiffs factual allegations are insufficiettt correct the deficiencies in the breach
contract claim identified supra &.A.4. Plaintiffs have failedo state a cognizable claim f
breach of contract.

3. Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, the Court finds tRktintiffs’ motion to amend should be gran

27

ng

of

ted




© 00 N o o A~ w NP

N N N N N N N NN R P R R R R R R R
o ~N o O B~ W N P O © 0 ~N o 00 M W N B O

in part. The request to file the proposedtfisnended complaint should be denied as f
because Plaintiffs have failedatlege any cognizable claims.

For the reasons discussed in this findings and recommendations, Plaintiffs do n
standing to bring a pre-foreclosusuit to challenge the nonjudici@reclosure on their propert
Therefore, the Court recommentgt the cause of action forafrd, wrongful foreclosure, qui
title, cancellation of instruments, negligentsmeipresentation, and unfadusiness practices |

dismissed without leave to amend.

However, Plaintiffs may be able to cures tefects in the TILA and breach of contr
claims. Accordingly, the Court recommends ttia TILA and breach of contract claims
dismissed with leave to amefd.

V.
RECOMMENDATIONS

Accordingly, IT IS HEREBY RECOMMENDED that:

1. Defendants’ motion to dismidded April 9, 2018, be GRANTED;

2 Plaintiffs’ cause of actiofor fraud, wrongful foreclosurejuiet title, cancellation g

instruments, negligent misrepreseitat and unfair business practices

DISMISSED WITHOUT LEA/E TO AMEND:;
3. Plaintiffs’ motion to amend, filedune 6, 2018, be GRANTED IN PART AN

4 The parties are advised that pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure,

By presenting to the court a pleading, written motior other paper--whether by signing, filing,
submitting, or later advocating it--an attorney or unrepresented party certifies that to the best of the
person’s knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the
circumstances:

(1) it is not being presented for any improper puepasich as to harass, cause unnecessary delay,
or needlessly increase the cost of litigation;

(2) the claims, defenses, and other legal contentions are warranted by existing law or by a
nonfrivolous argument for extending, modifying, or reversing existing law or for estaglisbw

law;

(3) the factual contentions have evidentiary supprrif specifically so identified, will likely have
evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery; and

(4) the denials of factual contentions are warraotethe evidence or, if specifically so identified,
are reasonably based on belief or a lack of information.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b). If the Court finds that Rule 11 has been violated, the coumipcese iappropriate sanctions g
an attorney, law firm, or party that violatecthule. Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(c)(1)(2)(3).
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DENIED IN PART; and

4, Plaintiff be GRANTED leave to filea first amended complaint to cure t
deficiencies in the TILA and bach of contract cause of action.

This findings and recommendations is submittedthe district judgeassigned to thi

action, pursuant to 28 U.S.C.&686(b)(1)(B) and this Court’s loal Rule 304. Within fourteg

(14) days of service of thisgemmendation, any party may file wen objections to this finding

and recommendations with the Coband serve a copy all parties. Sucla document should &

captioned “Objections to Magistrate Judge’s Fnggi and RecommendationsThe district judge

will review the magistrate judge’s findingand recommendations pursuant to 28 U.S.(
636(b)(1)(C). The parties are advised that faitoréle objectionswithin the specified time ma
result in the waiver of rights on appeal.ilk&rson v. Wheeler, 772 F.3d 834, 839 (9th Cir. 2C

(citing Baxter v. Sullivan, 928.2d 1391, 1394 (9th Cir. 1991)).

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

Dated: June22,2018

ANLEYA _BOONE —
UNITEDSJATESMAGISTRATE JUDGE

5 Plaintiffs are advised that they have not been grareteglto file an amended complaint. The district judge will

he

S

e

14)

issue an order addressing the findings and recommendations and address whether Plaintiffs may file an amended

complaint.
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